S194121

N	lo.		
Τ,	١ ٠.		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ELK HILLS POWER, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant

v.

CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION,

COUNTY OF KERN,

Defendants and Respondents.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUN 2 0 2011

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal,
Fourth Appellate District, Division One, No. D056943

Deputy

The San Diego Superior Court, No. 37-2008-00097074-CU-MC-CTL The Honorable Ronald L. Styn

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter W. Michaels (SBN 93212) LAW OFFICE OF PETER MICHAELS 6114 La Salle Avenue, #445 Oakland, California 94611-2802 (510) 547-0255

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in holding that the value of intangible rights known as "Emission Reduction Credits" can be expressly included in the taxable value of Petitioner's tangible property in violation of the longstanding constitutional exemption and statutory prohibition against the taxation of intangible assets, and in direct contravention of settled precedent from this Court and every appellate district in the state upholding those limits on the taxing power? (Cal. Const. art. XIII, §2; Rev. & Tax. Code §110(d) & §212.)

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The court of appeal's published opinion in this case ("Opinion") has dramatic, broad-based implications for business taxpayers throughout the State of California. The Opinion contravenes an express constitutional exemption and a statutory prohibition against the *ad valorem* taxation of intangible assets and rights when tangible real and personal property is assessed. The Opinion also effectively creates intractable conflicts with prior decisions by this Court and every appellate district in the state that have upheld the exemption against taxing intangible assets, thereby rendering the Petitioner's intangible Emission Reduction Credits ("ERCs") subject to assessment for *ad valorem* tax purposes. The Opinion deviates from this Court's clear pronouncement upholding the constitutional

¹ A copy of the Opinion is attached hereto.

exemption at issue here in *Roehm v. County of Orange* (1948) 32 Cal.2d 280, the seminal precedent on this issue. Indeed, *Roehm* has been followed by this Court on two subsequent occasions and it is the benchmark relied upon by each of the state's appellate districts for more than sixty years in deciding numerous cases involving taxation of intangible assets.

The conflict created by the Opinion places all taxing authorities in the state, including appraisers employed by the State Board of Equalization ("Board") and all county assessors, in the impossible position of trying to apply a new and unworkable test in order to determine when – or if – the constitutional exemption for intangible assets applies. As those decisions are made, taxpayers throughout the state will be forced to challenge their *ad valorem* tax valuations, thus clogging both administrative tribunals and later the trial and appellate courts of this state with hundreds – if not thousands – of tax appeals focused on this issue. In turn, trial and appellate courts throughout the state will be forced to try and reconcile the new test adopted by the Fourth District's Opinion with more than sixty years of California jurisprudence that has consistently upheld the Constitution's exemption of intangible assets and rights from *ad valorem* taxation.

Under Article XIII, §2 of the California Constitution, the California Legislature is granted authority to tax only tangible property, but it is also expressly prohibited from taxing intangible assets and rights other than those specifically enumerated therein. (Cal. Const. art. XII, §2.) As

interpreted by this Court more than sixty years ago in *Roehm*, Article XIII, §2 "is a grant of power to the Legislature to provide for the assessment, levy, and collection of taxes, but it does not grant power to provide for the taxation of intangible assets other than those listed [in Article XIII, Section 2]."² (*Id.* at 285 (emphasis added).)

In 1995, the Legislature codified the principles articulated in *Roehm* and its progeny by amending Section 110 to add Subdivisions (d), (e) and (f). The court of appeal misinterpreted Subdivision 110(e) of the Revenue and Taxation Code as permitting the assessment of intangible assets whenever they are determined to be "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of taxable, tangible property. This is an erroneous reading of the plain language of Section 110 as a whole. The court of appeal made this determination in contravention of the applicable canons of statutory construction. Moreover, while paying lip-service to the necessity of carrying-out the Legislature's intent in amending Section 110, the Fourth

² The only taxable intangible assets/rights enumerated in Article XIII, §2 are "notes, debentures, shares of capital stock, bonds, solvent credits, deeds of trust, mortgages, and any legal or equitable interest therein." (Cal. Const. art. XIII, §2.) ERCs, like most other intangible assets, have never been taxable. At the time *Roehm* was decided, Rev. & Tax. Code §212 exempted all of the intangible assets listed in Article XIII, §2, except solvent credits. Since *Roehm* was decided, solvent credits have also been made statutorily exempt from taxation. (Rev. & Tax. Code §212(a).) Thus, under current California law, all intangible assets are exempt from taxation.

District failed and refused to review <u>any</u> of the pertinent legislative history that was made available to it in order to decide this issue.³

That history shows the Legislature included Subdivision 110(e) to permit taxing authorities to "assume the presence" of intangible assets, not to expressly add the value of those intangible assets to the value of tangible property in violation of the absolute constitutional exemption codified by Subdivision 110(d). For example, consistent with the Constitution and this Court's prior decision in *Roehm*, Subdivision 110(e) permits an assessor to "assume the presence" of a liquor license in valuing tangible property as a bar, but it does not permit the assessor to add the cost of that license to the value of the bar when assessing the real and personal property. (*See id.*)

The court of appeal's illogical interpretation of Subdivision 110(e) negates the long-standing rule against the taxation of intangible assets set forth in Rev. & Tax. Code §§110 and 212, both of which codify the exemption in Article XIII, §2 of the California Constitution. In short, the court of appeal's interpretation of Subdivision 110(e) renders the statute unconstitutional, because it allows for the taxation of intangible assets

³ Inexplicably, the court of appeal not only failed to review the applicable legislative history, it actually rejected a timely-filed amicus brief by the California Taxpayer's Association, the very organization that proposed the 1995 legislative amendments to Section 110 at issue herein. At the same time, the court also refused to take judicial notice of the legislative history. (Order denying application for leave to file *amicus curiae* brief and request for judicial notice, dated December 23, 2010.)

despite the constitutional exemption. In addition, the court's invention of a new test to determine whether an intangible asset is "necessary" or not, creates a direct and incurable conflict in appellate precedent that will confound California business taxpayers, taxing authorities and the lower courts.

This Court has weighed-in three times on the issue of how intangible assets should be dealt with for property tax purposes. (See Roehm, 32 Cal.2d at 290 (upholding the exemption for intangible liquor licenses); Michael Todd Co. v. County of Los Angeles (1962) 57 Cal.2d 684, 693 (upholding the exemption for intangible copyrights); De Luz Homes, Inc. v. County of San Diego (1955) 45 Cal.2d 546, 565-66 (upholding the exemption for intangible business enterprise value).) In each of these cases, this Court upheld the constitutional exemption. (See id.). The Fourth District's Opinion eviscerates that constitutional limitation and it implicitly overrules this Court's three prior decisions upholding it, not to mention decisions by every other appellate district in the state concerning this issue.

The single most important reason this Court should grant review in this case is because the Opinion creates great "dis-uniformity" in California jurisprudence. Indeed, *if* the newly-articulated "necessary" test set forth in the Opinion had been applied to the following California cases (among others that could also be cited), each would likely have been decided differently:

- The intangible **liquor license** deemed by **this Court** to be exempt from taxation in *Roehm*, would now be assessable, because it is "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of a bar, liquor store or restaurant. (*Roehm*, 32 Cal.2d at 290.)
- The intangible **copyright** deemed by **this Court** to be exempt from taxation in *Michael Todd*, would now be assessable, because it is "necessary" for the beneficial and productive use of a motion picture. (*Michael Todd Co.*, 57 Cal.2d at 693.)
- based rental car agency or a stadium-based food and beverage business deemed to be exempt from taxation by the **Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal** would now be assessable because the concession rights are "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of the companies' tangible taxable property. (County of Los Angeles v. County of Los Angeles Assessment Appeals Bd. (1993) 13 Cal. App.4th 102, 113; Service America Corp. v. County of San Diego (1993) 15 Cal. App.4th 1232, 1242.)

- The intangible franchise deemed to be exempt from taxation by the Third, Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal would now be assessable because it is "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of a cable television company's tangible property. (County of Orange v. Orange County Assessment Appeals Bd. No. 1 (1993) 13 Cal. App.4th 524, 533; Shubat v. Sutter County Assessment Appeals Bd. No. 1 (1993) 13 Cal. App.4th 794, 802-04; County of Stanislaus v. County of Stanislaus Assessment Appeals Bd. (1989) 213 Cal. App.3d 1445, 1454.)
- The intangible **broadband leases** (and other intangible assets) owned by a telephone company and deemed to be tax exempt by the **First District Court of Appeal** would now be assessable as part of a unit valuation because such leases are "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of the telephone company's unitary property. (*GTE Sprint Communications Corp. v. County of Alameda* (1994) 26 Cal. App.4th 992, 999.)

It has been almost half a century since this Court addressed this important question of law – how the value of intangible assets is to be excluded from the valuation of tangible real and personal property. In

Roehm, this Court openly acknowledged the "public importance" that its decision would have on taxpayers throughout the State of California. (Roehm, 32 Cal.2d at 283 ("These contentions therefore raise questions of public importance that involve numerous rights and privileges other than liquor licenses").) Respectfully, it is time for this Court to weigh-in once more on this important issue and to re-affirm the constitutional exemption prohibiting the taxation of intangible assets. In the absence of review, taxpayers, taxing authorities, trial and appellate courts will be left navigating a mine field full of uncertainty and irreconcilable conflicts between the Opinion and prior appellate decisions on an issue that affects nearly every commercial property in California.

Moreover, review by this Court regarding the proper treatment of intangible "emission reduction **credits**" for property tax purposes may also be of particular import in light of California's recent enactment of so-called "cap-and-trade" legislation (AB32, now codified as Health & Safety Code §38500), which implicates the purchase and sale of intangible "carbon **credits**." Although formal implementation of the cap-and-trade legislation has been stayed by the San Francisco Superior Court, it is only a matter of time before California's taxing authorities are faced with how to deal with this new form of analogous intangible right. Hence, it will serve the interests of judicial economy for this Court to rule now on how emission-related "credits" should be treated for property tax purposes.

In summary, the Opinion in this case represents a radical departure from settled law on this issue of public importance, and the "necessary" test proposed in the Opinion for determining which intangible assets are taxable will result in numerous lawsuits concerning the valuation of both state-assessed and locally-assessed real and personal property throughout California. Review by this Court is essential to secure uniformity of decision that is now threatened by the Fourth District's Opinion, and to settle an important question of property tax law that affects virtually every business taxpayer in California; namely, how non-taxable intangible assets and rights are to be excluded in valuing taxable, tangible real and personal property. (Rule 8.500(b)(1), Cal. Rules of Ct.)

RELEVANT FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Procedural History

Petitioner Elk Hills Power, LLC ("EHP") requests this Court to review the published Opinion of the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, dated May 10, 2011. EHP instituted the original action in the Superior Court of San Diego County against the Board and Kern County, to challenge the Board's decision to assess ERCs owned and used by EHP for tax years 2004 through 2008. (1 CT 1-13)⁴

⁴ All references to the Clerk's Transcript include reference to the volume, page number and lines, where applicable. For example 1 CT 125:5-14, refers to Volume 1 of the Clerk's Transcript at p.125, lines 5-14. Likewise,

Because the case involved a purely legal issue – whether intangible ERCs are assessable under California law - both parties filed motions for summary judgment in the trial court. (1 CT 105-23; 2 CT 226-251) After more than two hours of oral argument on those motions, the trial court denied EHP's motion and granted the Board's cross-motion on the basis of Rev. & Tax. Code §110(f). (1 RT 57:2-9; 4 CT 833:17-22) The trial judge expressed doubts about his application of Section 110, so EHP filed a Motion for New Trial, arguing for application of the basic tenet of tax law that any doubt arising from the construction of a taxing statute must be resolved in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing authority.⁵ (4 CT 763-69) (California Motor Transp. Co. v. State Board of Equalization (1948) 31 Cal.2d 217, 223-24.) The trial court denied EHP's Motion for New Trial (4 CT 885-86), but the judge noted again that he had gone "back-and-forth" in resolving the legal issue herein. (2 RT 64:11-16)

On March 9, 2010, EHP filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (4 CT 888-89) On May 10, 2011, the court of appeal issued its Opinion. The Fourth District based its decision on a different subdivision of Rev. & Tax. Code \$110 – Subdivision 110(e). (Opinion, p.40-41) Specifically, the court held

references to the Reporter's Transcript include reference to the volume, page number and lines.

⁵ In announcing his ruling, the trial judge stated he could "easily write a dissenting opinion." (1 RT 57:13)

that because ERCs are "necessary" for the real and personal property of the Plant to be put to beneficial or productive use "[t]here is no basis to remove the value of the ERCs from the value of the unit," despite the fact that ERCs are undisputedly intangible rights that are exempt from taxation in California. (Opinion p.40) Because EHP believed the court of appeal misstated the facts upon which it relied in reaching its decision, EHP filed a timely Petition for Rehearing on May 25, 2011. The court of appeal ordered defendants to respond to the Petition, but denied it on June 7, 2011.

B. Facts Regarding Emission Reduction Credits or "ERCs".

In this case, the parties agreed and the trial court expressly found that ERCs are intangible rights. (1 RT 57:1-2) Simply expressed, ERCs are intangible rights, like a government permit, because they allow a power plant (or other emission source) to legally operate at specified emission levels. (3 CT 600:25-27; 601:1-10) In other words, ERCs are intangible rights that permit their owner to emit a certain level of pollutant(s) into the atmosphere. Notably, the California Legislature has stated that ERCs are not "property." "Certificates evidencing ownership of approved reductions issued by [an air quality] district shall not constitute instruments, securities,

-11-

⁶ A copy of that order is also attached hereto.

or any other form of property." (Health & Safety Code §40710 (emphasis added).)

Petitioner purchased the ERCs at issue in order to construct its electric generation plant in Kern County ("Plant"). (1 CT 601:23-27) As part of the process of obtaining its "authority to construct" the Plant, EHP "surrendered" those same ERCs in order to commence production of electricity at specified emission levels. (2 CT 289-293)

C. Facts Regarding The Board's Assessment of ERCs.

There are three generally-recognized methods of valuing property for *ad valorem* tax purposes: (1) the cost approach; (2) the income approach; and (3) the sales comparison approach. One or more of these standard appraisal methods may be used to value different types of property. The cost approach focuses on what it would cost to replace an existing property with one of equivalent utility. The income approach can be used to value income-producing property by capitalizing the income produced by the property. The sales comparison approach looks at sales of comparable properties and makes adjustments to the sales prices to estimate market value. In this case, the Board employed two of these three approaches to value EHP's Plant – the cost approach (which was calculated for all five tax years), and the income approach (which was calculated for three of the five tax years). (3 CT 507:17-26; 508:1-4) The Board used

these methods to estimate the "full cash value" (market value) of the Plant. $(See id.)^7$

The cost approach is an appropriate method to use when, as here, there are intangible assets associated with tangible property because: "The cost approach does not typically capture the value of intangible assets and rights" (1 CT 160) In this case, however, the Board *added-in* the value of the intangible ERCs in computing EHP's assessed value under the cost approach. Specifically, the Board computed a "statewide replacement cost" for ERCs and added that to its valuation of the Plant's tangible assets under the cost approach. (3 CT 535-542; 3 CT 565:17-23) This was improper and the court of appeal obviously misunderstood what the Board did. (Opinion, p.37)

The income approach is appropriate for valuing property that produces income, but it is <u>not</u> intended to value the business – only the property. When applicable, the assessor estimates the present value of the property's future income stream and applies an appropriate rate of return to estimate market value. One problem with this approach is that it also captures the value of intangible assets that are necessary for the property to produce income. Thus, under the income approach, the assessor must take an affirmative step to <u>exclude</u> the value associated with intangible assets

⁷ The Board did not utilize the sales comparison approach to value the Plant, presumably because power plants are not frequently bought or sold.

because the value of all property that contributes to the income stream, whether tangible or intangible, is automatically subsumed in the valuation. (See, e.g., South Bay Irrigation Dist. v. California-American Water Co. (1976) 61 Cal. App.3d 944, 988.)

Because failure to exclude income associated with intangible assets would violate the prohibitions in Art. XIII, §2, in Section 110(d), and in case law interpreting these provisions, the Board adopted a specific technique for excluding value associated with intangible assets from an income approach. (3 CT 530-33) Although the Board *should* have followed this technique to exclude income attributable to ERCs from its income approach, it did not do so here.

In short, the record establishes that the Board did not take <u>any</u> steps to ensure that the value of **intangible** ERCs was excluded from the value of EHP's tangible, taxable property. Rather, <u>in arriving at the unitary value of EHP's Plant</u>, it is undisputed and the Board admits that it: (1) added the replacement cost of the ERCs to the Plant's value in its cost approach; and (2) <u>failed to exclude</u> any income attributable to intangible ERCs in its income approach. (3 CT 646:5-27; 647:1-11) <u>Both</u> of these actions represent clear violations of the Constitution and Section 110(d).⁸

⁸ The Opinion asserts there is a factual dispute regarding the Board's treatment of ERCs (Opinion, p.12), and that the Board's worksheets (entered into the record by <u>both</u> parties) can be "interpreted either way"

DISCUSSION

I. The Constitution Prohibits Taxation of Intangible Assets.

The California Constitution, as interpreted by this Court in *Roehm*, expressly limits taxing authorities in California to the taxation of <u>tangible</u> property, and a limited number of intangible assets specifically enumerated in Article XIII, §2. (Cal. Const. art. XIII, §2) As noted earlier, the Legislature has chosen not to tax <u>any</u> of the enumerated types of intangible assets or rights. (Rev. & Tax. Code §212.) Hence, <u>all</u> intangible assets are currently exempt from *ad valorem* taxation under California law.

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