In the Supreme Court of the State of California

ELK HILLS POWER, LLC.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION, ET AL.,

Defendant and Respondent.

Case No. S194121



Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D056949 erick K. Ohlrich Clerk
San Diego County Superior Court,
Case No. 37-2008-00097074-CU-MC-CTL
The Honorable Ronald L. Styn, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

with a substitute property, less accrued depreciation. (See *Watson Cogeneration Co. v. County of Los Angeles* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1071 (*Watson*).) BOE included a standard estimated replacement cost for the deployed ERCs, as well as other permitting and "soft costs" necessary to use of the property.

From 2006 to 2008, BOE continued to use the replacement cost approach and combined it with another standard valuation method: an income approach utilizing a "capitalized earning ability" or CEA factor. In estimating capitalized earning ability, BOE did not add any increment for the ERCs, but neither did it deduct their value as Elk Hills contended it should have. Instead, the BOE "legitimately took into account the value added by the ERCs," in determining the power plant's assessed value "because without the presence of the deployed ERCs, the power plant cannot operate and function as intended." (See Op. at p. 6.)

I. THE PETITION SHOULD BE STRICKEN BECAUSE IT WAS NOT TIMELY FILED AND SERVED

The Court should strike the petition as untimely. A petition for review "must be *served and* filed within 10 days" after the Court of Appeal's decision is final. (Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 8.500(e), emphasis added.)

Because the Court of Appeal filed its opinion on May 10, 2011, that decision became final on June 9, 2011. (*Id.*, rule 8.264(b).) Accordingly, Elk Hills had to file and serve the petition by June 20, 2011. Although Elk Hills filed its petition on June 20, 2011, the proof of service shows service a day later, on June 21, 2011. (See Exhibit A [photocopy of envelope addressed from Plaintiff's attorney Peter Michaels to Deputy Attorney General Brian Wesley with postmark of June 21, 2011 and receipt date

stamp of June 23, 2011].)¹ Accordingly, the petition should be stricken as untimely served.

II. THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY APPLIED THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT AND ITS OPINION DOES NOT CREATE ANY CONFLICT IN THE LAW

The Court of Appeal correctly applied the applicable statutes and precedent. There is no conflict in the law that merits this Court's intervention. Elk Hills' arguments to the contrary are based on misconstruction of the Court of Appeal's opinion, the relevant statutes, and existing precedent.

A. The Court of Appeal's Decision is a Straightforward Application of Existing Precedent

It has long been established that intangible assets and rights necessary to the beneficial or productive use of the taxable property being assessed should be included in that assessment, while intangibles not necessary to the use of taxable property may not be included. (See, e.g., Michael Todd v. County of Los Angeles (1962) 57 Cal.2d 684 [copyright properly considered in assessment as necessary for the "beneficial or productive" use of taxable film at its highest and best use as a master film negative]; American Sheds v. County of Los Angeles (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 384, 392 [permits included in assessment]; Service America Corp. v. County of San Diego (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1232 [business enterprise value and superior management acumen excluded from assessment]; Los Angeles SMSA Ltd v. Board of Equalization (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 768 [value added by FCC permit properly considered in assessment of cellular telephone plant and

¹ Elk Hills crossed out "June 20" on the proof of service, and replaced it with a handwritten "21." The postmark on the service copy envelope similarly reflects mailing on June 21, 2011. The Attorney General's office did not receive service until June 23, 2011.

system] *GTE Sprint Comm. Corp. v. County of Alameda* (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 992 [the value of intangible property may be included in the valuation of otherwise taxable tangible property; but remand necessary because the board did not identify or address the alleged exempt intangible assets not necessary to property use, such as trade name, customer base and assembled workforce.])

The Court of Appeal here, faced with a novel type of asset (ERCs), applied the same test California courts have consistently applied for decades. As the ERCs admittedly were necessary to the construction and operation of the power plant being assessed (similar to the FCC permits in Los Angeles SMSA, supra), inclusion was appropriate. The Court of Appeal explicitly applied existing precedent:

Here, as in *LA SMSA*, *supra*, 11 Cal.App.4th 768, 776, "the crux of the problem" is that Elk Hills cannot demonstrate that the Board misinterpreted the actual or booked ERC costs that were reported by Elk Hills, by impermissibly attributing income and value to them, or incorrectly imposing the tax directly on their value. Instead, those intangible assets were deemed to add to the value of taxable tangible property, because no earnings would be possible without them, due to the regulatory requirement of such "'possession of intangible rights and privileges that are not themselves regarded as a separate class of taxable property.' " (*Ibid.*, citing *Roehm*, *supra*, 32 Cal.2d 280, 285; see also *Michael Todd Co. v. County of Los Angeles* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 684, 693-694 [film valued with copyright].)

(Op. at pp. 38-39.) Thus, the Court of Appeal here merely applied an old test to a new asset, ERCs.

B. Elk Hills' Claimed Conflict is Based on its Misconstruction of the Court of Appeal's Opinion

Elk Hills contends, wrongly, that the Court of Appeal created a "new test" for determining when assessment of taxable property should include the assumed presence of an intangible asset that contributes to the taxable value of the property. The claimed "new test" is the necessity of the intangible asset to the use of the tangible taxable property. But the test applied by the Court of Appeal is neither "new" nor its own invention. Rather, it comes directly from Revenue and Taxation Code section 110, subdivision (e): "Taxable property may be assessed and valued by assuming the presence of intangible assets or rights *necessary to put the taxable property to beneficial or productive use.*" [Emphasis added.] The Court of Appeal did not create a new test but instead, as alluded to above, simply applied a well-established test to a new asset (ERCs).

Elk Hills not only misconstrues the source of the test used in the opinion, but also its application. In determining when intangible assets have contributed to the fair market value of property for assessment purposes, the appellate courts have made an important distinction. First are intangible assets or rights necessary for the beneficial or productive use of the property, such as permits, or the ERCs in this case, which properly may be considered in the value of the property for property taxation purposes. (See, e.g., American Sheds v. County of Los Angeles, supra, 66 Cal.App.4th at p. 392-393; Rev. & Tax. Code, § 110, subd. (e).) Such assets, including deployed ERCs, as appellant has admitted, are necessary to the use of the power plant regardless of who owns it and could not be removed from the property without changing its use. Second are intangible assets not necessary to use of the property, such as brand name or business enterprise value, which may *not* properly be considered in determining the value of the property for property taxation purposes. (See, e.g., Service America Corp., supra, 15 Cal.App.4th 1232). Assets in this category can be removed from the taxable property without affecting its highest and best property

² All statutory references are to the Revenue and Taxation Code unless otherwise stated.

use. The statute and well-established case law, including cases on which Elk Hills mistakenly relies, make it clear that this distinction determines whether the assessor should take intangible assets into consideration in determining the fair market value of taxable property.

Elk Hills' failure to grasp the statutory distinction between two different categories of intangible assets – those necessary to the beneficial use of the taxable property and those not necessary to such use – seems to underlie its apocalyptic vision of the ramifications of the Court of Appeal opinion. Elk Hills predicts the opinion will result in tax chaos, judicial meltdown and the catastrophic demise of the tax exemption for intangible property.³ But, the opinion simply applies to ERCs the same rules that courts have already applied to similar forms of intangible assets that are necessary to the use of the property, such as copyrights (*Michael Todd v. County of Los Angeles* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 684); transferrable development rights (*Mitsui Fudosan v. County of Los Angeles* (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 525) and FCC permits (*Los Angeles SMSA Ltd v. Board of Equalization* (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 768), as well as the more commonplace governmental authorizations such as building permits, special use permits, sewer permits, etc. The confusion and explosion of tax litigation predicted

³ Elk Hills' forecast of a disastrous outcome emanating from the Court of Appeal's opinion is highly ironic, given that, among the effects of the novel statutory construction it seeks would be the evisceration of the Legislature's intent to help save the planet by creating, through ERCs or "cap and trade," incentives to reduce pollution. (See Op. at p. 39 ["As a policy matter, we find it most unlikely the Legislature intended by its creation of the ERCs' statutory scheme, or by amending the statutes regarding the treatment of intangibles, essentially to provide a unitary tax deduction or tax credit for those power plant operators that cannot operate a plant at state accepted levels of admissions [sic], but that instead must obtain ERCs through purchase or trade, to enable them to commence and continue operations at a higher level of emissions."].)

by Elk Hills has not materialized from American Sheds, Mitsui Fudosan, Los Angeles SMSA, Michael Todd, or any of the other cases holding that property is taxed at its full value regardless of the fact that part of that value is contributed by the presence of an intangible asset. Those consequences will not follow from the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case, either.⁴

C. Elk Hills' Misconstruction of Statutes Underlies its Claim that the Decision Creates a Conflict

Elk Hills also misconstrues and ignores the applicable statutory language in its effort to create a review-worthy conflict. Specifically, Elk Hills contends section 110, subdivision (d), should be applied without regard to subdivision (e). But section 110, subdivision (d) applies "Except as provided in subdivision (e)." As required by the statute's plain language, the Court of Appeal applied the subdivision (e) exception, for "intangible assets or rights necessary to put the taxable property to beneficial or productive use." Where this exception applies, the statute provides the taxable property may be assessed by "assuming the presence of" the necessary intangible rights for use of the taxable property.

Much of Elk Hill's critique of the Court of Appeal opinion rests on the shaky foundation of claiming that use of the statutory word "necessary" in applying section 110, subdivision (e), is a "new test" invented by the Court of Appeal and is likely to result in chaos and confusion. But this test has been applied by California courts for years without the awful consequences predicted by Elk Hills.

⁴ Three amicus letters likewise misunderstand the issue in this case. Taxation of intangible assets is not at issue here and did not occur here. BOE simply did not add the value of ERCs to the market value of the power plant, as stated by amici. Rather, BOE included as part of the market value of the plant, that portion of value attributable to the presence of the deployed ERCs, as provided by existing statutory and case law.

Elk Hills contends that applying the plain statutory language will henceforth eviscerate the constitutional limitations on taxation of intangible assets. As a threshold point, however, this case does not involve taxation of an intangible asset, but rather assessment of a power plant. Moreover, considering the value-added to the real property by intangible assets necessary to their use (such as ERCs), as the courts have been doing for decades, has not and will not create a runaway taxation problem. In arguing otherwise, Elk Hills ignores that most intangible assets (e.g., commercial paper, professional licenses, banked ERCs) are not related to the use of specific taxable property, and therefore, under existing law as applied by the Court of Appeal, remain outside the property tax valuation process. And it further ignores the fact that not all intangible assets related to use of taxable property meet the "necessary" test; for example, while ERCs are necessary to allow use of property as a pollution-emitting power plant regardless of who owns the plant (and therefore may be considered in the property tax valuation of the overall property), trademarked Golden Arches are not necessary to use of property as a hamburger stand (and therefore any extra value added by the use of the brand and trademark must be excluded from any property valuation). Only by ignoring these facts can Elk Hills argue that the plain meaning of the statutory language must be destroyed in order to save it from constitutional infirmity. The Court of Appeal, however, used these facts in its analysis to reach the correct conclusion that BOE properly assessed the full value of Elk Hills' power plant under section 110, without creating a new tax exemption for use of ERCs. Its decision does not create a conflict.

In light of both the plain language of section 110 and the obvious legislative intent to reduce pollution rather than reward it, Elk Hills seeks refuge in so-called "legislative history" provided by special interest lobbyists. The Court of Appeal properly declined to indulge Elk Hills in

this regard for several reasons. First, doing so would embroil the courts in conflicting accounts of who really "sponsored" the legislation and with what intent. Moreover, consideration of such legislative history is improper where, as here, the plain language of the statute – "necessary to put the taxable property to beneficial or productive use" – requires no construction. (*Lennane v. Franchise Tax Bd.* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 263, 268.) The Court of Appeal's application of the plain language of the statute does not merit this Court's review.

D. The Court of Appeal's Decision Does not Conflict with Existing Case Law

Elk Hills erroneously claims the Court of Appeal opinion creates a conflict in case authority. Elk Hills repeatedly asserts that *Roehm v. County of Orange* (1948) 32 Cal. 2d 280 conflicts with the Court of Appeal's opinion. To so argue, however, Elk Hills incorrectly dismisses a key portion of this Court's holding as "dicta in *Roehm* that has created subsequent confusion." (Petition at p. 18.) But only Elk Hills is confused.

Roehm was clear enough: intangible assets, such as the liquor license at issue in Roehm, cannot be separately taxed as property; at the same time, assessable value of taxable property includes the value contributed by intangibles:

Intangible values, however, that cannot be separately taxed as property may be reflected in the valuation of taxable property. Thus, in determining the value of property, assessing

⁵ The amicus letter of CalTax submitted on Elk Hill's behalf is revealing in that it complains that the intent of *CalTax* (not the Legislature) was not followed by the Court of Appeal's application of the statute. (CalTax amicus letter at p. 7.) As a lobbyist, CalTax's "intent" for sponsoring the 1995 amendments to sections 110 and 212 is absolutely irrelevant, and its proffered interpretation of the law is likewise inconsequential. (See *Martinez v. Regents of University of Calif.* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1277, 1293.)

authorities may take into consideration earnings derived therefrom, which may depend upon the possession of intangible rights and privileges that are not themselves regarded as a separate class of taxable property.

(Roehm v. County of Orange, supra, 32 Cal.2d at pp. 285.)

The Court of Appeal correctly applied *Roehm* here. There is no conflict between *Roehm* and the decision in this case. This Court should decline Elk Hills' invitation to partially overrule *Roehm* and judicially create a previously-unknown tax exemption for using an intangible asset to increase the production and pollution of taxable property.

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